

# **Beyond 4 Walls and a Roof**

Addressing Homelessness Among Transgender Youth

By Hannah Hussey February 2015



## **Beyond 4 Walls and a Roof**

Addressing Homelessness Among Transgender Youth

By Hannah Hussey February 2015

### Contents

- 1 Introduction and summary
- 4 Experiences of homeless transgender young people
- 14 Root causes of homelessness among transgender youth
- 20 Policy recommendations
  - 20 Provide resources to obtain housing, education, and employment opportunities
  - 22 Implement strong nondiscrimination policies and eliminate barriers to services
  - 25 Address the root causes of homelessness
  - 27 Expand data-collection efforts to respectfully and confidentially include gender identity
- 29 Conclusion
- 30 About the author and Acknowledgments
- 31 Endnotes

### Introduction and summary

The number of unaccompanied homeless youth in the United States is alarming, with some experts comparing it to an epidemic. Studies indicate that lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender, or LGBT, youth comprise a disproportionate percentage of these young people—approximately 40 percent.<sup>1</sup> In some regions, 25 percent to 37 percent of LGBT high school students are or have recently been homeless.<sup>2</sup> Unfortunately, little research considers the unique experiences of transgender youth, a group that includes minors as well as young people in their late teens and 20s.

The information that is available indicates that transgender individuals experience a range of health and wellness disparities compared with their cisgender peers. Family rejection; inadequate social services; and discrimination in housing, employment, and education make it difficult for transgender young people to secure a safe and affirming place to live. Once homeless, transgender youth too often find that shelters are unwelcoming or unavailable, health care is inaccessible, and law enforcement systems are unhelpful.

As more youth transition at earlier ages, they become both more visible and more susceptible to family rejection and societal discrimination. Surveys suggest that increasing numbers of transgender youth are homeless—or at least that a larger share are outing themselves to service providers. For instance, one study of service providers working with LGBT homeless youth found that more than three-quarters reported having worked with transgender clients in the previous year—a significant increase over 10 years before, when fewer than half reported serving homeless transgender clients.<sup>3</sup> Immediate attention to these young people is vital to improve their health and safety.

This report compiles existing research in order to provide an overview of the demographics of transgender homeless youth, their experiences while homeless, and the factors that contribute to homelessness and housing instability among this community. It also outlines a series of recommendations for federal, state, and local policymakers to meet the housing needs of transgender young people and to improve outcomes for those experiencing homelessness. In particular, this report focuses on the following mechanisms for preventing and ending homelessness:

- Providing the resources needed for homeless and at-risk transgender youth to stabilize their lives, including shelters and transitional living programs, skill-building opportunities, health promotion programs, and family intervention services
- Implementing strong nondiscrimination policies and eliminating barriers to services in shelters, health care, vital records, and law enforcement
- Addressing the root causes of homelessness through changes to the interlocking systems that hold transgender youth back from reaching their full potential, including housing, employment, education, public accommodations, juvenile justice, and foster care
- Expanding data-collection efforts to include gender identity in respectful and confidential ways

In the face of adversity, many homeless transgender youth are demonstrating tremendous resilience by building tight-knit peer support networks, leading community organizing and advocacy efforts, and simply surviving despite the odds against them. As they seek to pursue their passions, these young people need targeted support and policy interventions in order to achieve positive social, economic, and health outcomes as they navigate and contribute to the world around them. While the drivers of youth homelessness are complex and solutions will take time, no commitment to seeing all youth safely housed will be complete until policymakers, service providers, researchers, and advocates join transgender young people in celebrating who they are and who they could grow to be.

### Key terms⁴

The following terms are defined as used in this report. See the endnotes for further information and additional meanings.

**Cisgender:** A term that describes a person whose gender identity matches their sex assigned at birth.

**Gender identity:** An individual's internal view of their own gender, an inner sense that could include being a man, a woman, both, neither, or something else entirely.

**Gender expression:** The manner in which a person represents or expresses gender to others, often through behavior, clothing, hairstyles, activities, voice, and mannerisms.

**Gender nonconforming:** A broad description that may include people whose gender expression or gender identity is neither masculine nor feminine or is different from traditional or stereotypical gender expectations. Some individuals prefer the terms gender variant or gender expansive. Gender-nonconforming youth may or may not identify as transgender or as lesbian, gay, or bisexual.

Genderqueer: An umbrella term that includes people whose gender identities or expressions may be neither male nor female, between or beyond genders, or some combination of genders.

# Experiences of homeless transgender young people

While anecdotes about the disparities faced by homeless transgender youth are abundant, limited data make it difficult to provide a comprehensive overview of the extent of homelessness among transgender youth. Nevertheless, existing research can offer a glimpse at lifetime rates of homelessness. The National Transgender Discrimination Survey, conducted in 2008 and 2009, found that 22 percent of respondents ages 18 to 24 had been homeless at some point in their lives in connection with their gender identity or expression. Rates are likely higher among at-risk communities. One study of HIV risk and sex work among transgender women ages 15 to 24 found that 43 percent had a history of homelessness, while another study of HIV risk among transgender women of color ages 16 to 25 found that 18 percent of respondents were currently homeless, and 46 percent reported having difficulty finding a safe place to sleep at night.

Similarly, estimates of the percentage of homeless youth who are transgender are few and varied, but available information suggests that it is significantly higher than the number of transgender individuals in the general population—generally thought to be less than 1 percent, though it may be slightly greater among youth.<sup>8</sup> Reports from several of the cities that participated in the 2013 Youth Count! initiative are illuminating: The percentage of homeless youth who were transgender was measured as 2 percent in Seattle, 3 percent in Cleveland, 6 percent in New York City, and 7 percent in Houston.<sup>9</sup> Methodologies used at some of the Youth Count! sites likely undercounted transgender youth and, in some instances, did not include all youth experiencing homelessness, so it is possible that the actual numbers of transgender youth in these locations are even higher. Indeed, a report by the Family and Youth Services Bureau of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Administration for Children and Families found that 6.8 percent of street youth interviewed by the agency identified as transgender.<sup>10</sup>

These studies are not inclusive of all transgender youth, and some rely on small samples or new research approaches, so their results may not be conclusive. Comparisons across geographic locations and demographic groups are likewise difficult to make, given significant variations in research methodologies. Nonetheless, the broad trends suggested by these preliminary data are staggering. Additional work to refine methods for studying homelessness and gender identity among youth, as well as further research into potential geographic and demographic disparities, is critical to obtain a clearer, more nuanced understanding of homeless transgender communities.

### Bentley Burdick<sup>11</sup>

### Youth advocate, 18 years old

My experiences with being homeless have been a mixed bag of endings and beginnings. I became classified by my school as homeless three years ago, after experiencing housing instability and family disruption. In the past year, I have stabilized and am no longer homeless. During that time, I was lucky enough to have an older sister willing to watch out for me, so my direct experience with shelters was limited. Only one youth program existed in my town that I knew of at the time: the Tumbleweed Runaway Program. I went through the Tumbleweed Program for things such as clothes, food, the occasional holiday money, and bus passes so I could transport myself within the limited range of our city's public transit system. Tumbleweed was an extremely supportive program for LGBT youth. They never questioned my identity. It seems like a small thing to not be constantly asked "Are you certain?" or to not be told that there are dangers behind "choosing" to be transgender, but it has a big impact. Living in Montana, most other programs, whether for youth or adults, are not so supportive.

In a funny turn of events, I'm now actually employed at the same organization that helped me out so much, working directly with youth who are experiencing some of the things I used to. The most meaningful part of my work as a peer mentor has been to have a connection to the kids that we help—to know what being homeless feels like and

how they think and to help them work through issues that no one else would be able to understand. I have also worked with numerous organizations, such as the U.S. Interagency Council on Homelessness, to further advance both my career and people's understanding of what being transgender or homeless is like. I plan to continue to expand my advocacy career, with a focus on homelessness; mental illness; lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer rights; and anything else that I think our country needs a bit of help in figuring out.

The main thing I always tell people when asked is that it's all about information. No matter how much I tried to educate my parents or the people around me, it didn't always work. It's important to have allies who can help teach people about the unique needs of transgender youth and the volatile situation of people who are homeless or at risk of becoming homeless. Service providers need to know what being transgender means, as well as how to help families learn to accept their children. While they may not be enough on their own, training programs that instill understanding should be operated in every shelter and at every outreach service provider—both for staff as well as for families. My advice is education, understanding, compassion, and protection. That is all we can ask for.

### Who are homeless transgender youth?

Detailed information about the demographics of homeless transgender youth is scarce. However, transgender youth report moving away from their parent or guardian for the first time at earlier ages than other homeless youth; the median age in one survey from New York City was 14, two years earlier than other homeless youth. 12 The same survey found that homeless transgender youth also tend to spend more time away from home—double the number of average months away from parents or guardians reported by their counterparts.<sup>13</sup> Even when compared with lesbian, gay, and bisexual, or LGB, youth—who may or may not also identify as transgender—transgender youth reported a median of 52 months away from parents or guardians, 23 months more than their LGB counterparts. <sup>14</sup> Little data exist on racial or other demographics of transgender homeless youth. However, some research indicates that significant numbers of homeless transgender young people—40 percent, according to one estimate<sup>15</sup>—do not identify as either male or female, highlighting the importance for service providers of understanding genderqueer identities.

Data on service utilization by homeless transgender youth are likewise limited. A report to Congress on the runaway and homeless youth programs administered by the Administration for Children and Families found that transgender youth accounted for less than 1 percent of clients in the Runaway and Homeless Youth Management Information System. However, the report also noted that this number could be low due to young people's reluctance to disclose their gender identity or to staff's reluctance to ask for it. 16 A study of homeless youth service providers puts the figure higher, estimating that approximately 4 percent of all clients who utilize housing programs identify as transgender.<sup>17</sup>

The New York City survey of homeless youth found that transgender youth used drop-in services at twice the rate of other youth and that they reported higher rates of usage of homeless or runaway services. 18 The survey also found that transgender youth were more likely than other youth to report spending a night with a sex work client; at a hospital, detox, drop-in, or community-based center or in a youth emergency shelter; and were less likely to have spent a night in a transitional housing program. <sup>19</sup> While the numbers of transgender participants in this survey were too small to definitively support these findings or to make generalizations about wider trends, these observations do identify areas in which further research may be useful.

### Access to shelter

Transgender youth who are homeless are at risk for a variety of negative health and safety outcomes that stem from the intersections between systematic discrimination and economic hardship. Unfortunately, many services for homeless young people mirror the biases and structural problems that cause them to become homeless. The National Transgender Discrimination Survey found that access to shelters is uneven. Of respondents ages 18 and older who attempted to use a shelter, 29 percent reported being denied access in connection with their gender identity or expression. Higher rates of being denied shelter—between 40 percent and 45 percent—were reported by black and Latino respondents, noncitizens, those without high school diplomas, and respondents who had lost a job as a result of bias. Transgender women also reported being denied shelter at higher rates than transgender men. Even if permitted entry to a shelter, transgender individuals have no guarantee that they will be able to stay, making longer-term planning difficult: One-quarter of respondents said they were "evicted after their transgender identity or gender-nonconformity became known."20

In addition to denying services outright, some providers offer services in environments that are no safer than the streets. Shelter staff may force transgender individuals to change their gender presentation or "live as the wrong gender" in order to stay an experience reported by 42 percent of transgender individuals over age 18 who accessed a shelter in the National Transgender Discrimination Survey.<sup>21</sup> Shelters often deny transgender youth access to the sleeping and living spaces that correspond to their gender identities and may provide them with substandard accommodations, such as sleeping space on floors or in storage rooms.<sup>22</sup> Additionally, more than half of respondents in the National Transgender Discrimination Survey reported experiencing harassment while at a shelter, one-quarter reported physical assault, and 22 percent reported sexual assault. These rates were also significantly higher for respondents of color than white respondents and for transgender women than transgender men.<sup>23</sup> A lack of privacy in crowded or dormitory-style shelters and requirements that overnight shelter clients leave early in the morning make it harder for transgender young people to complete the grooming rituals required to present themselves in a way that feels comfortable, potentially heightening their risk for harassment and decreasing their confidence.<sup>24</sup>

These data suggest that homeless transgender young people continue to face violence and unequal treatment in the very shelters that should be providing a safe space when there is nowhere else to turn. Although the Department of Housing and Urban Development, or HUD, prohibits discrimination on the basis of gender identity in the programs it funds,<sup>25</sup> few federal protections exist for transgender individuals who utilize programs funded through other government agencies or private sources, including many youth-specific programs. Additionally, HUD has not yet provided guidance on what constitutes equal access to shelters and other services, and mechanisms for enforcement are limited. Navigating this inhospitable landscape is particularly difficult for transgender youth who seek services at gender-specific or gender-segregated shelters, as providers may rely on an individual's identity documents or medical history rather than gender identity in determining eligibility.

The design of shelter and housing programs is also problematic for many transgender youth. Funding for homeless services is frequently attached to restrictions regarding age and length of stay. An insufficient number of beds makes it difficult for young people of all ages to secure space in a shelter. Minors may worry about being reported to law enforcement or child welfare officials when accessing services. Meanwhile, low age cutoffs at youth shelters create unique challenges to accessing age-appropriate services for older transgender youth. 26 As a result, transgender young people who have aged out of youth-specific services may turn to programs designed for older adults with drastically different needs and life experiences. Additionally, bureaucratic systems and personal bias mean that some transgender youth need more time than other youth to acquire necessary documentation such as ID cards, qualify for social services or public assistance, find employment, and transition to long-term or independent housing. Inflexible length-of-stay requirements cause short-term shelter programs to force these youth to leave before they have had time to make future arrangements.<sup>27</sup> Finally, individual program rules, such as curfews and employment or school enrollment requirements, are problematic for transgender youth whose educational and employment opportunities are limited by systemic discrimination and whose primary forms of affirmation may come from peer-based activities that extend past curfew hours.<sup>28</sup>

These experiences disrupt access to services and the search for stable housing. In addition to producing physical and emotional trauma, they can send youth back onto the streets or lead them to bounce from shelter to shelter. Indeed, nearly half of respondents to the National Transgender Discrimination Survey who had accessed a shelter reported leaving as a result of poor treatment.<sup>29</sup> While these numbers reflect adult homeless individuals as well as youth, they point to troubling trends that must be addressed in shelters that serve all ages.

### Paul Hamann<sup>30</sup>

### President, The Night Ministry

The Night Ministry provides housing, health care, and human connection to members of the Chicago community who are struggling with poverty or homelessness. Youth services are for young people between ages 14 and 24, ranging from emergency overnight shelter to up to two years in transitional living.

We have always been an open and affirming organization for LGB individuals, but it has been a journey for us when it comes to transgender and gender-nonconforming youth. When we opened up our overnight shelter, we became aware that we needed to do a better job. We took a hard look at the way we were operating—everything from hiring transgender employees to doing away with gender-specific bathrooms and gender-specific questions on forms. This was new territory for me and for our leadership, as we realized that we didn't know a lot and needed to learn.

When it comes to the youth we work with, all of our services are low barrier. We understand that youth are not only homeless but also adolescents. It's a crazy time in life. If a youth wants to use one name one day and another name the next, that's perfectly fine with us. We have done a lot of training with our staff, looking at restrictive gender assumptions in our organization and how we can improve. Culturally competent services are also incredibly important, so we do not send transgender young people to agencies where we know they won't be accepted or will have to fill out forms that cause complications related to their gender identity.

Transgender youth are sometimes not sure if they should be on the male floor or the female floor. Our practice is to place them on the floor where they are most comfortable and that is consistent with their identity. We also created a suite between floors for any youth who want extra privacy. It's a gender-neutral space where youth know they can go if they have a specific need.

We started hiring staff that mirrored the demographics of the youth, and we realized we needed to make changes for them as well. We have been eliminating references to gender—for instance, saying that we reach out to "community members" instead of "brothers and sisters in our community." All employees must have a pre-employment physical due to state requirements, so we now provide an option for new employees to go to a trans-friendly provider.

The fact that we are creating an open and affirming environment means that youth feel safe with us. They have a place to spend the night, which allows them to focus on other things in their lives, whether that be family reunification, longer-term housing, counseling, or an employment program. These are ways of operating that are good not only for transgender youth but for all youth. It is a matter of corporate philosophy, and it is a work in progress. The last thing youth need when they are in need of a bed for the night is to have to worry about their own safety or whether they are going to be questioned or judged. We have to do this for the youth, for their well-being and safety. If not us, then who?

### Sex work, violence, and criminalization

Lacking other resources and frequently facing employment discrimination, transgender homeless or unstably housed youth may engage in sex work or survival sex in order to generate income or in return for a place to sleep.<sup>31</sup> Reports from service providers and researchers suggest that transgender homeless youth engage in survival sex at higher rates than other homeless youth.<sup>32</sup> Sex work helps some transgender young people satisfy economic, social, and emotional needs including, for some, financing transition-related expenses and providing access to community and support from other transgender individuals.<sup>33</sup> However, it is also correlated with significant health and safety risks. Among these are HIV and other sexually transmitted infections, or STIs; according to one study, young transgender women with a history of sex work were four times more likely than their peers without such a history to report having HIV.34

Transgender individuals engaged in sex work experience alarming rates of physical and sexual violence, with research indicating that perpetrators include clients, police officers, and managers or pimps.<sup>35</sup> This violence often sits at a convergence of transphobia, misogyny, and racism: The 2013 National Coalition of Anti-Violence Programs report on anti-LGBT hate violence in the United States found that 72 percent of anti-LGBT homicide victims were transgender women and that 67 percent were transgender women of color.<sup>36</sup> In 2012, 6 of the 25 victims of reported anti-LGBT homicides—or approximately one-quarter of them—were sex workers.<sup>37</sup> Data based on reports from sex workers to HIPS, a nonprofit organization in Washington, D.C., indicate that attacks against transgender sex workers are more likely to involve a weapon, most often a gun, than attacks against sex workers who are not transgender.38

More broadly, transgender homeless youth are at risk for involvement with law enforcement and the juvenile and criminal justice systems as a result of personal bias and policies that criminalize homelessness and sex work. For instance, Amnesty International found that police frequently target and arrest transgender homeless youth for sex work and activities such as trespassing and loitering—even when the youth are not engaging in them.<sup>39</sup> Transgender women, particularly transgender women of color, are often profiled as sex workers, resulting in arrests, harassment, and violence at the hands of law enforcement officers.<sup>40</sup> This continuing history of mistreatment discourages transgender young people from reporting crimes they have experienced.

Policies that treat minors involved in sex work as victims of human trafficking rather than perpetrators of a crime are gaining popularity in some jurisdictions. The best of these safe harbor laws provide an important avenue for youth to avoid unfair criminalization and to obtain supportive services if desired. In other locations, these policies or their implementation lack the flexibility to best serve transgender youth, setting unnecessary restrictions on who can qualify as a victim or pressuring youth to provide testimony against a trafficker that they may be unwilling or unable to give. For instance, many transgender young people involved in sex work have worked independently or primarily with peers, rather than with any sort of manager; others, similar to their cisgender peers, may be reluctant to testify because of complex relationships with a pimp or because they fear retribution.<sup>41</sup> Additionally, courts in some states mandate that youth receive services from providers who may not be culturally competent in serving transgender youth, who do not adequately recognize young people's agency, or who are part of the same child welfare systems that drive many transgender youth onto the streets.<sup>42</sup>

So-called survival crimes—including shoplifting and selling drugs—also increase the likelihood that youth will become involved with the criminal justice system, as do curfews and policies that prohibit activities such as sitting or lying down in public spaces, panhandling, or public urination.<sup>43</sup> Additionally, homeless and transgender youth, especially youth of color, report that law enforcement officers frequently demand to see identification, which may lead to searches, interrogations, tickets, and arrest or detention. Such practices are especially problematic for youth who lack IDs or other identification documents that match their gender identity or expression. 44 Arrest, detention, conviction, or confinement in juvenile justice or adult facilities place transgender homeless youth at further risk of violence and victimization and can undermine future employment, housing, and educational opportunities, creating a cruel cycle in which criminalization is both caused by and contributes to homelessness.<sup>45</sup>

#### Health and access to health care

Poor physical and mental health presents a significant challenge for transgender youth who are homeless. According to one study, more than half of service providers reported that homeless transgender youth had worse physical and mental health than their other youth clients, and nearly one-quarter reported it was "much worse." 46 This aligns with other research indicating that transgender youth in the general population are at heightened risk of victimization, suicide ideation, and HIV/AIDS.<sup>47</sup> For instance, one study of young transgender women in Chicago and Los Angeles found that 19 percent of participants self-reported being HIV positive—a number much higher than the prevalence rate in the general population.<sup>48</sup> Other studies that focused on at-risk populations or used HIV tests rather than self-reporting have found even higher rates of HIV infection. For example, in one study, 35 percent of transgender women across a wide age span were HIV positive. 49 Research also indicates that black and Latina transgender women are disproportionately more likely to be HIV positive. 50 The impact of HIV is notably heavy on transgender youth: Newly diagnosed transgender individuals are more likely to be in their teens or 20s than newly diagnosed individuals in the general population.<sup>51</sup>

Despite these health risks, homeless transgender young people may experience difficulty in accessing health care. A report compiled for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services found that staff cited difficulty locating health care providers with expertise in serving transgender people as a significant barrier to improving outcomes for homeless transgender youth.<sup>52</sup> Homeless transgender youth may also struggle to locate funding for hormone therapies or surgical treatment required as part of their transition, as not all public insurance programs cover these services. 53 Denying transgender youth appropriate and medically necessary health care causes some to turn instead to self-administered silicon injections or hormones acquired without a prescription. While these steps provide transgender youth a form of self-determination they are unable to obtain at health care providers, a lack of guidance on dosage and a lack of access to unused needles—as well as unsanitary injection conditions—can increase the risk of stroke and liver damage, the transmission of HIV and Hepatitis C, and other health conditions.54

Previous discrimination or negative experiences with health care providers, such as providers making negative remarks about clients' appearances or using the wrong names and gender pronouns, can also alienate transgender youth and complicate their access to care. 55 As a result, mental health issues such as depression, substance abuse, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder can go untreated or worsen while youth are on the streets.<sup>56</sup> Because many transgender youth lack appropriate forms of identification, they frequently face unnecessary hurdles when trying to access health care, as well as other social and educational services and employment opportunities.<sup>57</sup> Finally, even where health care is accessible, homelessness itself can act as a barrier to following recommended practices outside of health care providers' offices. For instance, adherence to complex HIV treatment regimens can be difficult for homeless or unstably housed young people with inconsistent sleep or meal schedules.<sup>58</sup>

Lacking the tools and resources that support other youth during their journey to adulthood, homeless transgender young people find themselves choosing from an inadequate set of options as they seek to survive and move forward with their lives, often encountering significant barriers to their health, safety, and well-being. While additional research is needed to more fully understand the experiences of transgender young people while homeless and opportunities for positive interventions, existing data and accounts from young people are sufficient to demonstrate that the status quo is unacceptable.

### Root causes of homelessness among transgender youth

With the right support from key people in their lives, transgender youth can learn and grow without having to leave home until they are ready. However, transgender youth too often encounter personal prejudice and institutions unequipped to meet their needs. Family rejection, school harassment, antiquated discipline policies, and underresourced social services with inadequate protections against discrimination make a stable adolescence difficult to achieve, driving many transgender youth onto the streets.

### Tony Bias<sup>59</sup>

### Gay-Straight Alliance Network of California youth leader, 17 years old

My name is Tony, and I am a queer trans guy of color. In September of last year, I was facing homelessness at the age of 17. My dad had taken away my testosterone, or in other words, my identity. I pleaded and begged him to give me back what many transgender folk find medically necessary to their survival. However, despite my cries and confession of suicidal feelings, he refused. He even threatened to put me in a chokehold as my feelings ran high. In a state of distress, I turned to leave the unstable environment. My father stopped me only to take away my cell phone and keys and to lock the door behind me. I spent the rest of that night sleeping outside of a hotel on a bench.

Luckily, after the first night of sleeping outside, I was able to find a homeless youth shelter that would take me in. However, a problematic issue presented itself when the shelter staff first learned that I was a queer trans man. A woman asked me over the phone, "Do you, you know ... look like a guy? Sound like one?" Fortunately, I had been on testosterone for about a year and a half and had the privilege of "passing," but I could not help but think of the many transgender youth who do not have the means or do not want to medically transition. It was obvious she would have denied them access to the room that matched their gender identity.

Sadly, this was not the only troublesome issue that I faced while at the shelter. Upon my arrival, a few of the other homeless youth thought they were aware of my sexual orientation and gender identity, without me being the one to reveal it to them. Apparently, the staff had told the other youth about me. Again, fortunately I am open about both my sexual orientation and gender identity, but my thoughts drifted toward those who are not. The respect for privacy about a youth's sexual orientation and gender identity should be a given.

Many people inherently do not understand what it is like to be a transgender youth. To have your gender invalidated constantly by your friends, teachers, adults, strangers, and then coming home to have it invalidated by your parents, sucks. I do not ask people to understand how we feel or what we go through, but respect for our genders is essential to our well-being and survival as human beings. The solution to homelessness among transgender youth starts with the education of our society, our parents, our friends, our teachers, everyone. We need to do better as people.

### Family rejection

Research indicates that family acceptance or rejection has a significant effect on several measures of health and well-being for LGBT youth. 60 Indeed, family rejection is a leading cause of homelessness for LGBT youth. According to one study of homeless youth service providers, youth running away from home as a result of family rejection of their sexual orientation or gender identity and parents forcing youth to leave home due to their sexual orientation or gender identity were the two primary reasons that their LGBT clients were homeless or at risk for becoming homeless.<sup>61</sup> Many also cited physical, emotional, or sexual abuse within the home.<sup>62</sup>

Unfortunately, family rejection is all too common for transgender individuals. The National Transgender Discrimination Survey found that 40 percent of respondents ages 18 and over reported that their parents or other family members refused to speak or spend time with them in response to their gender identity or expression.<sup>63</sup> Additionally, the same survey found that 19 percent of respondents had experienced domestic violence from a family member in connection with their gender identity or expression and that these rates were higher for respondents of color.<sup>64</sup> These experiences had high correlations to homelessness: 26 percent of those who had experienced family rejection had also experienced homelessness, almost three times the percentage of those whose families were accepting, and 48 percent of those who had experienced domestic violence had also experienced homelessness, almost four times the percentage of those whose families were accepting.<sup>65</sup>

While these results include older adults, they suggest alarming patterns that may also be true for transgender youth. In general, transgender youth report low levels of social support, including emotional help and support from their families and other sources. 66 As a result, transgender youth who experience family rejection or violence may lack access to the economic and social resources—such as an independent income or other trusted adults who are willing to provide housing or financial support—that would help prevent homelessness. This idea is reinforced by findings from the National Transgender Discrimination Survey that suggest that transitioning later in life is inversely related to homelessness.<sup>67</sup>

### School push out

An effective school system provides not only the skills and training that students need to pursue further education or enter the workforce but also a safe space for personal growth, positive peer interactions, and supportive adults who can provide mentorship and promote resiliency—especially when life at home is difficult. By these measures, schools too often fail transgender and gender-nonconforming students. The absence of nondiscrimination protections and cultural competency training for school personnel means that many transgender young people attend schools with staff who refuse to use their correct names and pronouns, severely restrict their access to restrooms or locker rooms, and deny them equal participation in sports teams, field trips, and other school activities. Additionally, transgender youth experience high rates of harassment and assault from other students, teachers, security officers, and other school personnel. According to a 2013 survey by the Gay, Lesbian & Straight Education Network, or GLSEN, significant numbers of transgender students report "sometimes, often, or frequently" feeling unsafe at school—75 percent—experiencing verbal harassment—74 percent—and experiencing physical harassment—33 percent.<sup>68</sup> This harassment interferes with students' ability to learn and, importantly, can result in poor attendance due to safety concerns: According to GLSEN, 59 percent of LGBT students who experienced "higher levels of victimization" related to their gender expression reported missing at least one day of school in the previous month—compared with 18 percent of their peers who experienced lower levels of victimization.<sup>69</sup>

Transgender and gender-nonconforming students are also disproportionately targeted by school discipline policies and singled out for harsher punishments than their peers by school personnel, resulting in some instances in removal from the classroom, suspensions, expulsions, and involuntary transfers. <sup>70</sup> For instance, under zero-tolerance policies, school personnel frequently treat students who are victims of harassment or acting in self-defense as perpetrators of bullying or violence. Similarly, gender-based dress codes punish transgender and gender-nonconforming youth for simply expressing their gender identity.<sup>71</sup> Youth of color are particularly likely to be disciplined under these policies, even though their infractions are no worse than those of their white peers.<sup>72</sup>

Truancy charges, harsh disciplinary measures, suspensions or expulsions, and school-based arrests frequently lead to involvement with the juvenile justice system, interfere with learning time, and hurt academic achievement. All of these factors reduce the likelihood that transgender students will graduate, a critical

predictor of earnings in today's economy. For instance, a first-time arrest at school doubles the likelihood that a student will drop out, and a court appearance quadruples it. 73 Lack of a high school diploma and a stable income puts young people at risk for future housing instability, and in turn, lack of housing complicates the pursuit of further education.

### Foster care and juvenile justice

A broken child welfare system serves as a significant driver of homelessness. Family rejection and criminalization mean that transgender youth are disproportionately likely to spend time in out-of-home care. For instance, a recent study of youth in foster care in Los Angeles County found that 5.6 percent were transgender, higher than estimates of the percentage of transgender youth in the general population.<sup>74</sup> The same study also found that between 9.3 percent and 13.4 percent of youth in foster care were gender nonconforming.<sup>75</sup>

Despite their overrepresentation within the system, transgender and gender-nonconforming youth in foster care face increased discrimination that puts them at elevated risk for homelessness. LGBT youth in foster care are more likely to have a higher number of placements and report being treated worse than their non-LGBT peers, both of which reduce the likelihood of youth forming stable relationships with caregivers and reduce overall well-being. Additionally, transgender youth may be denied appropriate health care, refused gender-appropriate clothing, and assigned to placements that do not meet their needs.<sup>76</sup>

Similarly, studies have indicated that transgender youth experience high rates of abuse within the juvenile justice system. Like their counterparts in foster care, transgender young people in juvenile detention facilities experience physical, verbal, and sexual harassment; are placed in facilities that are inconsistent with their gender identities; are held in isolation; are subjected to conversion therapy efforts; are denied access to appropriate health care; and are prevented from expressing their gender identities.<sup>77</sup> While many communities have started to implement programs that provide alternatives to detention, others have yet to do so, and access to these is limited for transgender youth. Often, young people who have been arrested or detained are released from custody only into the care of a parent or guardian; for transgender youth who have strained relationships with family, this can result in longer periods of detention, even if they have not been convicted of a crime.<sup>78</sup> Additionally, some facilities refuse to house transgender youth on the assumption

that they would be unable to keep them safe or that transgender youth will be disruptive. As a result, transgender youth are frequently placed in more restrictive settings than necessary.<sup>79</sup>

Underresourced or outdated systems too often fail to address risk factors for youth homelessness or to equip young people with the skills needed for adult life. Adequate mental health supports are in short supply, and those that are available may not be prepared to serve transgender youth: 77 percent of juvenile justice professionals in one survey said they were "unaware" of local mental health evaluators who had specialized knowledge in working with LGBT youth.80 Additionally, although family engagement is an important component of creating effective plans for system-involved young people, foster care and juvenile justice professionals struggle to involve families in meaningful ways—particularly around issues of gender identity.81

Time spent in foster care or the juvenile justice system has long-term consequences. Bouncing between multiple placements or experiencing detention disrupts education, limits career opportunities, and can result in untreated or exacerbated mental health problems. 82 When foster placements do not meet the needs of transgender youth to be safe, cared for, and celebrated for who they are, but rather expose them to further harassment and abuse, youth may elect to run away—even if it means becoming homeless.

Additionally, transgender youth who have been involved with systems of out-ofhome care may find themselves with no place to go upon leaving those systems. One survey of service providers found that 17 percent of providers cited aging out of the foster care system as one of the primary reasons that their LGBT clients were homeless or at risk of homelessness. 83 This aligns with data suggesting that between 12 percent and 36 percent of emancipated youth—those who have aged out—experience homelessness after leaving state care. 84 Similarly, young people released from juvenile detention often return to unstable housing situations: Their families may be unaccepting; they may lack the financial resources needed to pay their own rent; and for youth who have been convicted of certain offenses, federal policies and local rules may prevent them from returning to public or subsidized housing. 85 Although little research exists on transgender youth who recently have been involved in systems of state care, additional barriers to achieving stable housing put them at increased risk, including a lack of legislation that prohibits discrimination on the basis of gender identity in 32 states.<sup>86</sup>

The causes of homelessness among transgender youth are complicated, involving both interpersonal prejudices and systemic failures. While transgender young people living through homelessness have a unique set of needs and experiences, their stories share similarities with many other youth, including those in foster care, the juvenile justice system, and unsupportive educational institutions. By addressing the factors that contribute to homelessness among transgender young people, it is possible to build systems that are more effective at providing opportunities for youth with a wide diversity of identities and backgrounds.

### Policy recommendations

Reducing homelessness and preventing housing instability for transgender and gender-nonconforming youth is a critical yet complex undertaking. Fortunately, model policies and programs that are already working for transgender youth hold great promise if implemented on a larger scale. Additionally, broader fixes proposed in the areas of child welfare, juvenile justice, education, employment, and housing have the potential to promote significant social and economic advancement for transgender young people. By strategically allocating resources, committing to providing affirming services, implementing large-scale systemic changes, and advancing transgender-specific and transgender-inclusive research, policymakers at the local, state, and national levels can lay the groundwork that transgender youth need to succeed.

### Provide resources to obtain housing, education, and employment opportunities

Research indicates that funding for housing and prevention programs aimed at reducing health risk factors can help young people achieve healthier and more prosperous futures and reduce long-term costs to the public. By diverting youth who are ready to learn to live independently from more costly foster care and juvenile justice programs and addressing substance abuse and other health risk behaviors, youth-serving transitional housing programs allow young people to gain skills while saving taxpayer dollars. For instance, estimates suggest that the public would save \$5 million to \$20 million if 500 youth from juvenile justice residential facilities were moved to community-based transitional living programs, where they could access school and employment opportunities.<sup>87</sup> Similarly, a study in Oregon found that the savings for case management and transitional housing programs amounted to \$7.45 for every \$1 invested.88

### Reauthorize the Runaway and Homeless Youth Act with protections for LGBT young people

For 40 years, the programs funded through the Runaway and Homeless Youth Act have provided lifesaving services to homeless and at-risk young people and their families, including outreach, crisis intervention, temporary and long-term supportive housing, and case management. The Runaway and Homeless Youth Act is reauthorized every five years and was due for reauthorization in 2013. Congress can ensure that these programs continue to help youth get back on their feet by passing a bill to reauthorize the Runaway and Homeless Youth Act, and for other purposes<sup>89</sup> with adequate funding and including clear nondiscrimination provisions so that federally funded programs meet the needs of homeless transgender youth.

### Provide education and employment opportunities that promote skill development

Programs that assist homeless transgender youth in continuing or re-engaging with education and developing career skills are critical to ensure that they have the tools to obtain immediate or future employment. Fully funding programs such as the McKinney-Vento Act's Education for Homeless Children and Youth Program; 90 removing barriers to higher education such as restrictive financial aid forms and a lack of adequate and affordable student housing; and supporting partnerships that offer job training, career counseling, and apprenticeships to homeless and at-risk transgender youth—as has happened in New York<sup>91</sup> and Chicago<sup>92</sup>—can help mitigate the disruptive impact of homelessness on education and career readiness.

### Fund cost-effective prevention programs aimed at reducing HIV, Hepatitis C, and other health risks

Programs focused on harm reduction and preventing the spread of STIs and other health risks can reduce the health problems that homeless and other at-risk transgender youth experience—and save the public money in the long run. For instance, establishing or strengthening condom distribution programs and ensuring that they reach homeless and transgender individuals are effective ways

to reduce HIV/AIDS rates.<sup>93</sup> Similarly, studies show that syringe or needle exchange programs result in significant cost savings by reducing the spread of HIV, Hepatitis C, or other infections among at-risk populations via used or shared needles and syringes.<sup>94</sup> Programs such as these are of particular importance to homeless transgender youth who are unable to obtain sterile needles and syringes for hormone injections from a health care provider, and they can also improve health outcomes for young people who are using injection drugs. Lifting the ban on using federal funds for syringe and needle exchange programs and targeting homeless transgender youth as program clients would result in health benefits for young people and cost savings for the general public.

Integrate promising practices in family intervention for transgender youth in homeless service programs

While the safety and effectiveness of reuniting with families is different for each homeless young person, promoting new evidence-based practices designed for LGBT youth can assist homeless transgender youth in reconnecting with their families or other supportive adults where such action is safe, desired, and appropriate. Ensuring that homeless and family service providers have access to resources and training from organizations such as the Family Acceptance Project<sup>95</sup> and funding demonstration projects to further explore best practices in family intervention for transgender youth can help better target family reunification efforts and move youth off the streets and back home.

Implement strong nondiscrimination policies and eliminate barriers to services

Homeless transgender young people must have equal access to the building blocks needed to stabilize their lives. Eliminating discrimination and establishing policies and practices that improve access to vital services will help reduce the health and safety disparities that transgender homeless youth experience in comparison to other homeless youth.

### Implement clear nondiscrimination policies and guidance in youth-serving shelters and programs

In 2010, the Department of Housing and Urban Development issued guidance that stated that housing discrimination on the basis of sex would be interpreted to include discrimination based on nonconformity with sex stereotypes, establishing protections for transgender and gender-nonconforming individuals. 96 HUD followed this guidance with the publication of an Equal Access Rule to establish further specific protections against housing discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation or gender identity in HUD-funded housing. <sup>97</sup> While these are important steps forward, more work remains. Shelters and programs serving homeless and at-risk transgender youth need clear policies that prohibit discrimination on the basis of gender identity and outline best practices, including incorporating a positive youth development framework and housing youth in a manner consistent with their gender identity and their personal safety, 98 regardless of whether they receive funding from HUD or from other government or private sources. Further state and federal action is needed from HUD, the Administration for Children and Families, and state agencies in order to establish comprehensive nondiscrimination policies and issue guidance that outlines how providers should fulfill their obligations.

### Eliminate transgender coverage exclusions

The exclusion of health care services for transgender individuals from many private insurance and state Medicaid programs has a devastating impact on the physical and mental health of transgender homeless young people. Nondiscrimination language in the Affordable Care Act represented progress in addressing this barrier, but more work remains. 99 While nine states and the District of Columbia have taken action to end discriminatory exclusions in health coverage for transgender individuals, the rest have yet to follow suit. 100

### Ensure that all transgender homeless youth have access to IDs that reflect their gender identity and expression

Lack of identification should never be a barrier for homeless transgender youth attempting to access services or obtain housing or employment. States can reduce documentation challenges for youth by streamlining processes for changing names and gender markers, removing requirements such as surgery,

and working with youth and service providers to address obstacles created by lack of residency for homeless individuals. States and municipalities should also explore alternative mechanisms for facilitating access to IDs for populations facing documentation barriers, such as joining a growing number of cities in establishing municipal ID card programs. 101

End the targeting of transgender young people by law enforcement and decriminalize behaviors associated with homelessness and sex work

Criminalizing youth for being transgender, homeless, or engaged in sex work increases their involvement with the juvenile and criminal justice systems, often leads to trauma and victimization, and can result in long-term impacts on the ability to obtain housing, employment, and education. Local, state, and federal policymakers and law enforcement agencies should prohibit profiling based on gender identity or expression as well as factors such as race, ethnicity, and housing status. Eliminating status offenses and policies that criminalize youth for being homeless—including prohibitions against panhandling, lying down in public places, and truancy—is similarly important to ensure that homeless transgender youth are not further punished for the lack of safe housing available to them.

Finally, policymakers and law enforcers should support rather than discourage practices that promote the health and safety of transgender young people engaged in sex work. For instance, states and municipalities should prohibit the use of condoms as evidence of involvement in prostitution-related offenses and avoid confiscating condoms. 102 Policymakers and law enforcement officials also must collaborate with providers and youth to create a more nuanced response to human trafficking that envisions roles for transgender young people beyond victim and perpetrator. Anti-trafficking efforts that empower transgender youth will value rather than criminalize nonexploitative peer networks and will center youth voices by using positive youth development models that engage young people as key decision makers in determining their future plans. They should provide adequate funding for nonmandatory services that are culturally competent and trauma informed, and they should establish alternatives to funneling youth into child welfare or juvenile justice programs from which they have already run away due to abuse or discrimination. 103

#### Address the root causes of homelessness

Ending homelessness for transgender young people means not only meeting the immediate needs of homeless youth but also interrupting the cycles of poverty, violence, and discrimination that cause and perpetuate homelessness. These structural changes must pay particular attention to the ways in which current policies and practices disproportionately penalize young transgender people who are immigrants and undocumented, who are individuals of color, who have limited financial resources, and who have disabilities.

Pass state and federal legislation that prohibits discrimination on the basis of gender identity and expression

When transgender youth are evicted from or denied housing; fired from their jobs or passed over during hiring processes; harassed at or pushed out of school; and refused equal treatment in shelters, public transportation, hospitals, and other public accommodations, they are deprived of the opportunities they need to support themselves. Passage of federal and state legislation that prohibits such discrimination is critical to ensure that transgender youth do not have to silence who they are in order to access the basic necessities they need to avoid or exit homelessness. 104

Pass strong anti-bullying policies and reduce school disciplinary mechanisms that disproportionately harm transgender youth

Building welcoming school environments for transgender students helps reduce drop-out rates, 105 equip youth with the skills they need to succeed as young adults, and ensure that they have at least one safe place in their communities where they can be themselves. Federal legislation such as the Safe Schools Improvement Act, 106 as well as state and local policies that prohibit bias-based bullying and include enumerated protections for transgender youth, can improve the safety and success of all students, reducing hostile school environments in which transgender youth are all too often targeted by bullying or by policies that punish them for being caught up in cycles of violence and victimization. For similar reasons, schools, states, and federal policymakers should seek to limit practices such as zero-tolerance policies that funnel students into

the juvenile justice system through the school-to-prison pipeline, which disproportionately targets transgender and gender-nonconforming students, particularly those of color. This includes revising dress codes and codes of conduct, reducing or removing funding for in-school law enforcement officers, eliminating vague status offenses such as "willful defiance," and promoting restorative justice practices and positive behavioral interventions through local policies and state and federal legislation. 107

Implement reforms in the juvenile justice and foster care systems that affirm transgender identities and support youth who are aging out

Because transgender youth are disproportionally likely to spend time in foster care or the juvenile justice system, ensuring that these institutions are equipped to support transgender youth both while they are there and as they leave is critical to reducing the likelihood that these youth will become homeless. At a minimum, all juvenile justice and foster care providers should adopt clear policies that prohibit discrimination and harassment based on gender identity; establish best practices for supporting transgender youth; and require cultural competency training for staff, volunteers, and foster families. Resources from organizations including the Equity Project, the National Center for Lesbian Rights, the Sylvia Rivera Law Project, the Child Welfare League of America, and Lambda Legal<sup>108</sup> and policies from Massachusetts, New York state, and New York City<sup>109</sup> can serve as models. Such policies and training should be required through contracts with the state and federal agencies that provide funding and oversight.

Additionally, child welfare and juvenile justice professionals should avoid using gender identity as a justification for placing transgender youth in more restrictive settings than are necessary and should seek to employ community-based programs, independent and transitional living programs, and alternatives to detention where appropriate. Finally, foster care and juvenile justice systems must establish or strengthen supports and services for youth who are exiting or aging out to ensure they have the housing, health care, employment and educational opportunities, and mentorship that they need to transition smoothly to adulthood.

### Create additional affordable housing units and expand rental assistance programs

Without access to affordable housing in their communities, the ability of transgender youth to house themselves is limited—particularly when combined with the economic impact of employment and education discrimination. Federal, state, and local investment in affordable housing is key to ensure that economically disadvantaged and unstably housed transgender youth do not become homeless. This requires community planning and government financing to protect affordable housing that already exists and to support the creation of new, affordable housing units. Expanding the availability of rental assistance programs such as the Section 8 housing-choice voucher program and reducing eligibility screening requirements, such as those related to criminal records, is also a core component of making housing accessible to young people at risk for homelessness.<sup>110</sup>

### Expand data-collection efforts to respectfully and confidentially include gender identity

While research on LGBT youth homelessness has expanded rapidly in recent years, large-scale data collection remains limited. Research, data collection, and analysis often leave out transgender youth in particular—a challenge born both out of a small population size and a lack of public awareness. Greater attention to the number of homeless transgender youth and to the disparities they experience is vital to ensure that proposed solutions to youth homelessness adequately address the needs of transgender young people. Additionally, further research can refine methodologies for asking about and recording gender identity in sensitive and age-appropriate ways.

### Provide guidance to continuums of care and communities on asking for, recording, and reporting gender identity

Although they may not capture all youth who are homeless or unstably housed, point-in-time and homeless youth counts are an important tool for local, state, and national policymakers and advocates in creating demographic snapshots of homeless populations and assessing the scope of need. The interagency Youth Count! initiative and subsequent process study from the Urban Institute<sup>111</sup> provided valuable best practices and lessons learned from participating communities, such as integrating homeless or formerly homeless LGBT youth into the design and execution of counts. More specific recommendations and guidance from HUD on transgender-inclusive data collection and reporting is necessary to create an accurate understanding of transgender homeless youth populations. Such guidance should address the ways in which a variety of factors—including race, ethnicity, age, and language—may influence survey administrator and respondent understandings of homelessness, gender identity, and other demographic descriptors. Responsibility also lies with continuums of care—the local and regional planning bodies that coordinate homelessness services—to seek out best practices and to commit to following relevant guidance and recommendations from HUD and other sources.

### Provide best practices on collecting gender identity data to providers

Inconsistent collection and recording of gender identity data by runaway and homeless youth providers exacerbates gaps in knowledge about how well federally funded programs are serving transgender youth. Guidance from the Administration for Children and Families on best practices for providers in asking for or recording disclosures of gender identity, along with creative strategies and technical assistance for situations in which questions on gender identity may be particularly sensitive, would increase the quality of data collected through the Runaway and Homeless Youth Management Information System.

### Conclusion

A safe and consistent place to live is a critical prerequisite for academic achievement, good physical and mental health, and career development—all of which are, in turn, important for housing stability as adults. For transgender young people, obstacles to success accumulate at each stage of this cycle, pushing the promise of equal opportunity ever further away.

The journey to adulthood contains challenges for all youth, no matter who or where they are. A struggle to meet basic needs—including housing, education, health care, the presence of caring adults, and affirmation—should never have to be part of that journey. Proposals for ending homelessness among transgender youth should be comprehensive in scope. The dream for transgender young people must be bigger than four walls and a roof, encompassing all the elements that youth need not only to survive but also to thrive. As transgender youth living through homelessness raise their voices to articulate their hopes and fears, it is time for the nation to hear them and to act.

#### About the author

**Hannah Hussey** is a Research Associate for LGBT Progress at the Center for American Progress. Prior to joining the Center, she served as coordinator for the Massachusetts Commission on Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer, and Questioning Youth, an independent state agency dedicated to recommending policies, programs, and resources for LGBT youth to thrive. In that role, Hussey helped write and implement policy recommendations to 15 state agencies on topics including education, health, foster care, juvenile justice, housing, immigration, transportation, and workforce development. She also led an initiative to create a comprehensive map and database of culturally competent services available to LGBT youth throughout the state to improve accessibility and identify resource gaps.

### Acknowledgments

The author would like to thank Paul Hamann from The Night Ministry for contributing to this report, Jody Herman for providing data from the National Transgender Discrimination Survey, and Jama Shelton for feedback and assistance with this project and broader research in this field. Gratitude also goes to Faith Deredge and Ana Flores for aiding in the research of this report and to the Gay-Straight Alliance Network and the Forty to None Project for their assistance in making this project inclusive of the voices of young people. Finally, this project was made possible by the willingness of transgender young people to tell their stories and participate in the research studies cited here. The author particularly thanks Tony Bias and Bentley Burdick for sharing their perspectives and for their courage in helping build a research and policy agenda to eliminate youth homelessness.

The Center for American Progress thanks The Palette Fund for its support of our LGBT programs and of this report. The views and opinions expressed in this report are those of the Center for American Progress and the author and do not necessarily reflect the position of The Palette Fund. The Center for American Progress produces independent research and policy ideas driven by solutions that we believe will create a more equitable and just world.

#### Endnotes

- 1 Laura E. Durso and Gary J. Gates, "Serving Our Youth: Findings from a National Survey of Service Providers Working with Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Youth Who Are Homeless or at Risk of Becoming Homeless" (Los Angeles and New York: The Williams Institute, True Colors Fund, and The Palette Fund, 2012), available at http://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/ wp-content/uploads/Durso-Gates-LGBT-Homeless-Youth-Survey-July-2012.pdf.
- 2 Heather L. Corliss and others, "High Burden of Homelessness Among Sexual-Minority Adolescents: Findings from a Representative Massachusetts High School Sample," American Journal of Public Health 101 (9) (2011): 1683-1689; Eric Rice and others, "Sexuality and Homelessness in Los Angeles Public Schools," American Journal of Public Health 102 (2) (2012): 200-201.
- 3 Durso and Gates, "Serving Our Youth."
- 4 Definitions are adapted from NYC Administration for Children's Services, "Safe and Respected: Policy, Best Practices, and Guidance for Serving Transgender and Gender-Nonconforming Children and Youth Involved in the Child Welfare, Detention, and Juvenile Justice Systems" (2014), available at http://www.nyc.gov/html/ acs/downloads/pdf/lgbtq/FINAL\_06\_23\_2014\_WEB. pdf; Massachusetts Department of Youth Services, "Prohibition of Harassment and Discrimination Against Youth" (2014), available at http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/ docs/dys/policies/030409-prohibition-youth-harassment.doc; Gay, Lesbian & Straight Education Network and National Center for Transgender Equality, "Model District Policy on Transgender and Gender Nonconforming Students: Model Language, Commentary and Resources" (2011), available at http://transstudent.org/ downloads/ModelDistrictTransandGNCPolicyFINAL pdf; Eku R. Green and Eric N. Peterson, "LGBTQI Terminology" (Riverside, CA: UC Riverside LGBT Resource Center, 2004), available at http://www.lgbt. ucla.edu/documents/LGBTTerminology.pdf. For additional resources, see Child Welfare League of America and Lambda Legal, "Getting Down to Basics: Tools to Support LGBTQ Youth in Care" (2012), available at http://www.lambdalegal.org/sites/default/files/ publications/downloads/gdtb\_2013\_complete.pdf.
- 5 Personal communication from Jody Herman, Peter J. Cooper public policy fellow and manager of transgender research, The Williams Institute, October 13, 2014. Herman provided data from the National Transgender Discrimination Survey.
- 6 Erin C. Wilson and others, "Transgender Female Youth and Sex Work: HIV Risk and a Comparison of Life Factors Related to Engagement in Sex Work," AIDS and Behavior 13 (5) (2009): 902-913, available at http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2756328/.
- 7 Robert Garofalo and others, "Overlooked, Misunderstood, and At-Risk: Exploring the Lives and HIV Risk of Ethnic Minority Male-to-Female Transgender Youth," Journal of Adolescent Health 38 (3) (2006): 230-236.
- 8 Mona Chalabi, "Why We Don't Know the Size of the Transgender Population," FiveThirtyEight, July 29, 2014, available at http://fivethirtyeight.com/features/ why-we-dont-know-the-size-of-the-transgenderpopulation/; Gary J. Gates, "How many people are lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender?" (Los Angeles: The Williams Institute, 2011), available at http:// williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/ Gates-How-Many-People-LGBT-Apr-2011.pdf.

- 9 Marci Curtin and others, "Count Us In 2014: King County's Point-in-Time Count of Homeless and Unstably Housed Young People" (Seattle: United Way of King County, Committee to End Homelessness King County, and City of Seattle Human Services Department, 2014), available at http://www. kingcounty.gov/socialservices/Housing/ServicesAnd-Programs/Programs/Homeless/HomelessYouthandYoungAdults.aspx; Rob Fischer, Seok-Joo Kim, and Nina Lalich, "Cuyahoga County/Cleveland Youth Count Initiative 2013: Data on Homeless Youth Under 24 Years of Age" (Cleveland: Case Western Reserve University, 2013); Lance Freeman and Darrick Hamilton, "A Count of Unaccompanied Homeless Youths in New York City' (New York: New York City Coalition on the Continuum of Care, 2013), available at http://www.nychomeless. com/downloads/pdf/2013\_NYC\_Homeless\_Youth\_Report.pdf; Catherine Troisi, "Houston/Harris County/Fort Bend County Point-in-Time Enumeration 2013 Executive Summary" (Houston: Coalition for the Homeless, 2013), available at http://www.homelesshouston.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/2013-PIT-Executive-summary-final.pdf.
- 10 Administration for Children and Families, Street Outreach Program: Data Collection Project Executive Summary (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2014), available at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/ sites/default/files/fysb/fysb\_sop\_summary\_final.pdf.
- 11 Personal communication from Bentley Burdick, youth advocate, Tumbleweed Runaway Program, January 26,
- 12 Lance Freeman and Darrick Hamilton, "A Count of Homeless Youth in New York City" (New York: Empire State Coalition of Youth and Family Services, 2008), on file with author.
- 13 Ibid.
- 14 Ibid.
- 15 Durso and Gates, "Serving Our Youth."
- 16 Administration for Children and Families, Report to Congress on the Runaway and Homeless Youth Programs Fiscal Years 2010 and 2011 (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services), available at http://www.acf.hhs. gov/sites/default/files/fysb/rhy\_congress\_2010\_11.pdf (last accessed January 2015).
- 17 Durso and Gates, "Serving Our Youth."
- 18 Freeman and Hamilton, "A Count of Homeless Youth in New York City."
- 19 Ibid.
- 20 Jaime M. Grant and others, "Injustice at Every Turn: A Report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey" (Washington: National Center for Transgender Equality and National Gay and Lesbian Task Force, 2011), available at http://transequality.org/PDFs/ NTDS\_Report.pdf.
- 21 Ibid.
- 22 Alison W. Wright, Testimony before Boston City Council's Committee on Healthy Women, Families, and Communities, July 31, 2014, available at http://www. glad.org/uploads/docs/advocacy/awright-testimonyin-support-of-docket-1178.pdf.

- 23 Grant and others, "Injustice at Every Turn."
- 24 Jama Shelton, "There's No Place Like Home? The Experiences of Unstably Housed Transgender and Gender-Nonconforming Young People" (2013). This dissertation is unpublished and on file with the author.
- 25 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, "Equal Access to Housing in HUD Programs Regardless of Sexual Orientation or Gender Identity," Federal Register 77 (23) (2012): 5662-5676, available at https:// www.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/ EqualAccess\_FinalRule\_2.3.12.pdf.
- 26 Shelton, "There's No Place Like Home?"
- 27 Ibid.
- 28 Ibid
- 29 Grant and others, "Injustice at Every Turn."
- 30 Paul Hamann, phone interview with author, January 9,
- 31 Wilson and others, "Transgender Female Youth and Sex
- 32 Nicholas Ray and others, "Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Youth: An Epidemic of Homelessness" (Washington: National Gay and Lesbian Task Force Policy Institute, 2006), available at http://www. thetaskforce.org/downloads/HomelessYouth.pdf; Larkin Street Youth Services, "Best Practices for Meeting the Needs of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Questioning Homeless Youth" (2009), available at http://www.larkinstreetyouth.org/resource-library/ download-info/best-practices-for-meeting-the-needsof-lesbian-gay-bisexual-transgender-and-questioninghomeless-youth/.
- 33 Wilson and others, "Transgender Female Youth and Sex Work."
- 34 Ibid.
- 35 Rebecca L. Stotzer, "Violence against transgender people: A review of United States data," Aggression and . Violent Behavior 14 (3) (2009): 170–179, available at http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.bu.edu/science/ article/pii/S1359178909000202.
- 36 National Coalition of Anti-Violence Programs, "Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer, and HIV-Affected Hate Violence in 2013" (2014), available at http://www. avp.org/storage/documents/2013\_ncavp\_hvreport\_final.pdf.
- 37 National Coalition of Anti-Violence Programs, "NCAVP learns of the hate violence homicide of Diamond Williams, a transgender women of color in Philadelphia. Pennsylvania," July 24, 2013, available at http://www. avp.org/storage/documents/2013.7.24\_ncavp\_ma\_diamondwilliams.pdf.
- 38 Katie Hail-Jares, "Bad Dates: How Prostitution Strolls Impact Client-Initiated Violence," Studies on Law, Politics and Society, forthcoming.
- 39 Jody Marksamer, "And by the Way, Do You Know He Thinks He's a Girl? The Failures of Law, Policy, and Legal Representation for Transgender Youth in Juvenile Delinquency Courts," Sexuality Research and Social Policy 5 (1) (2008): 73-92, available at http://equityproject. org/pdfs/And\_by\_the\_way\_article.pdf.

- 40 DC Trans Coalition, "Discussing the Causes of Violence against Trans Women," August 28, 2011, available at http://dctranscoalition.wordpress.com/2011/08/28/ discussing-the-causes-of-violence-against-trans-women/; Mike Ludwig, "Walking While Woman' and the Fight to Stop Violent Policing of Gender Identity," Truthout, May 7, 2014, available at http://www. truth-out.org/news/item/23551-walking-while-womanand-the-fight-to-stop-violent-policing-of-gender-
- 41 INCITE! Blog, "No Simple Solutions: State Violence and the Sex Trade," April 22, 2011, available at http:// inciteblog.wordpress.com/2011/04/22/no-simplesolutions-state-violence-and-the-sex-trades/.
- 42 Ibid.
- 43 Nico Sifra Quintana, Josh Rosenthal, and Jeff Krehely, "On the Streets: The Federal Response to Gay and Transgender Homeless Youth" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2010), available at http://cdn. american progress.org/wp-content/uploads/ issues/2010/06/pdf/lgbtyouthhomelessness.pdf; National Law Center of Homelessness and Poverty and National Coalition for the Homeless, "Homes Not Handcuffs: The Criminalization of Homelessness in U.S. Cities" (2009), available at http://www.nationalhomeless.org/publications/crimreport/index.html.
- 44 Amnesty International, "Stonewalled: Police Abuse and Misconduct against Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender People in the U.S." (2005), available at http://amnesty.org/en/library/asset/AMR51/122/2005/ en/2200113d-d4bd-11dd-8a23-d58a49c0d652/ amr511222005en.pdf.
- 45 Rebecca Vallas and Sharon Dietrich, "One Strike and You're Out: How We Can Eliminate Barriers to Economic Security and Mobility for People with Criminal Records" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ poverty/report/2014/12/02/102308/one-strike-andvoure-out.
- 46 Durso and Gates, "Serving our Youth."
- 47 Arnold H. Grossman and Anthony R. D'Augelli, "Transgender Youth: Invisible and Vulnerable," Journal of Homosexuality 51 (1) (2006): 111-128; Arnold H. Grossman and Anthony R. D'Augelli, "Transgender Youth and Life-Threatening Behaviors," Suicide and Life-Threatening Behaviors 37 (5) (2007): 527-537; Sari L. Reisner and others, "Mental Health of Transgender Youth in Care at an Adolescent Urban Community Health Center: A Matched Retrospective Cohort Study," Journal of Adolescent Health (2015), available at http:// www.jahonline.org/article/\$1054-139X%2814%2900693-4/abstract.
- 48 Wilson and others, "Transgender Female Youth and Sex Work"; Maggie Fox, "Under 1 percent of U.S. adults have HIV: report," Reuters, January 29, 2008, available at http://www.reuters.com/article/2008/01/29/ us-aids-usa-idUSN2962453620080129.
- 49 Kristen Clements-Nolle and others, "HIV Prevalence, Risk Behaviors, Health Care Use, and Mental Health Status of Transgender Persons: Implications for Public Health Intervention." American Journal of Public Health 91 (6) (2001): 915-921, available at http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1446468/pdf/11392934.

- 50 Clements-Nolle and others, "HIV Prevalence, Risk Behaviors, Health Care Use, and Mental Health Status of Transgender Persons"; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, HIV Infection among Transgender People (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2011). available at http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/transgender/pdf/ transgender.pdf.
- 51 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, HIV Infection among Transgender People.
- 52 Andrew Burwick and others, "Identifying and Serving LGBTO Youth: Case Studies of Runaway and Homeless Youth Program Grantees" (Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research, 2014), available at http://aspe.hhs.gov/ hsp/14/lgbt-rhy/rpt\_LGBTQ\_RHY.pdf.
- 53 Andrew Cray, Katie Miller, and Laura E. Durso, "Seeking Shelter: The Experiences and Unmet Needs of LGBT Homeless Youth" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2013), available at http://cdn.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/ LGBTHomelessYouth.pdf.
- 54 Nelson F. Sanchez, John P. Sanchez, and Ann Danoff, "Health Care Utilization, Barriers to Care, and Hormone Usage among Male-to-Female Transgender Persons in New York City," American Journal of Public Health 99 (4) (2009): 713-719, available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pmc/articles/PMC2661470/?report=classic: Sylvia Rivera Law Project, "FIERCE! And SRLP Team Up: Safe Hormone Access for Teens!", SRLP Newsletter 2 (1) (2004): 1-7, available at http://srlp.org/files/ February%202004%20%20newsletter.pdf.
- 55 Garofalo and others, "Overlooked, Misunderstood, and At-Risk."
- 56 Freeman and Hamilton, "A Count of Homeless Youth in New York City."
- 58 Elizabeth R. Woods and others, "Boston HAPPENS Program: HIV-positive, homeless, and at-risk youth can access care through youth-oriented HIV services," Seminars in Pediatric Infectious Diseases 14 (1) (2003): 37-48; Jaime Martinez and others, "Adherence to Antiviral Drug Regimens in HIV-Infected Adolescent Patients Engaged in Care in a Comprehensive Adolescent and Young Adult Clinic," Original Communications 92 (2) (2000): 55-61, available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC2640544/pdf/jnma00874-0006.pdf.
- 59 Personal communication from Tony Bias, Gay-Straight Alliance leader, Gay-Straight Alliance Network, January 27, 2015.
- 60 Caitlin Ryan and others, "Family Acceptance in Adolescence and the Health of LGBT Young Adults," Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing 23 (4) (2010): 205-213.
- 61 Durso and Gates, "Serving Our Youth."
- 62 Ibid.
- 63 Grant and others, "Injustice at Every Turn."
- 64 Ibid.
- 66 Ryan and others, "Family Acceptance in Adolescence and the Health of LGBT Young Adults."

- 67 Grant and others, "Injustice at Every Turn."
- 68 Joseph G. Kosciw and others, "The 2013 National School Climate Survey: The Experiences of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Youth in our Nation's Schools," (New York: Gay, Lesbian & Straight Education Network, 2014), available at http://glsen.org/nscs.
- 70 Hilary Burdge, Zami T. Hyemingway, and Adela C. Licona, "Gender Nonconforming Youth: Discipline Disparities, School Push-Out, and the School-to-Prison Pipeline" (San Francisco: Gay-Straight Alliance Network, 2014), available at http://www.gsanetwork.org/files/ aboutus/GSA\_GNC\_FINAL-web.pdf; Shannon D. Snapp and others, "Messy, Butch, and Queer: LGBTQ Youth and the School-to-Prison Pipeline," Journal of Adolescent Research 30 (1) (2014): 1-26.
- 71 Preston Mitchum and Aisha C. Moodie-Mills, "Beyond Bullying: How Hostile School Climate Perpetuates the School-to-Prison Pipeline for LGBT Youth" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014), available at http:// cdn.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/BeyondBullying.pdf.
- 72 Ibid
- 73 Public Counsel, "How Communities Teamed Up With Police, Courts, and L.A. Leaders Over Truancy Tickets," available at http://www.publiccounsel.org/ pages/?id=0059 (last accessed January 2015).
- 74 Bianca D.M. Wilson and others, "Sexual and Gender Minority Youth in Los Angeles Foster Care: Assessing Disproportionality and Disparities in Los Angeles" (Los Angeles: The Williams Institute and others, 2014), available at http://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/ wp-content/uploads/LAFYS\_report\_final-aug-2014.pdf.
- 75 Wilson and others, "Sexual and Gender Minority Youth in Los Angeles Foster Care."
- 76 Jody Marksamer, Dean Spade, and Gabriel Arkles, "A Place of Respect: A Guide for Group Care Facilities Serving Transgender and Gender-Nonconforming Youth" (Washington and New York: National Center for Lesbian Rights and Sylvia Rivera Law Project, 2011), available at http://www.nclrights.org/wp-content/ uploads/2013/07/A\_Place\_Of\_Respect.pdf.
- 77 Katayoon Majd, Jody Marksamer, and Carolyn Reyes, "Hidden Injustice: Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Youth in Juvenile Courts" (Equity Project, 2009), available at http://www.equityproject.org/pdfs/ hidden injustice.pdf.
- 78 Jerome Hunt and Aisha Moodie-Mills, "The Unfair Criminalization of Gay and Transgender Youth" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2012), available at http:// cdn.american progress.org/wp-content/uploads/ issues/2012/06/pdf/juvenile\_justice.pdf.
- 79 Majd, Marksamer, and Reyes, "Hidden Injustice."
- 80 Ibid.
- 81 Ibid.
- 82 Youth Reentry Task Force of the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Coalition, "Back on Track: Supporting Youth Reentry from Out-of-Home Placement to the Community" (2009), available at http://www.sentencingproject.org/doc/publications/ cc\_youthreentryfall09report.pdf.
- 83 Durso and Gates, "Serving Our Youth."

- 84 Cray, Miller, and Durso, "Seeking Shelter."
- 85 Youth Reentry Task Force of the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Coalition, "Back on Track."
- 86 Movement Advancement Project, "Non-Discrimination Laws," available at http://www.lgbtmap.org/ equality-maps/non\_discrimination\_laws (last accessed December 2014).
- 87 Cray, Miller, and Durso, "Seeking Shelter."
- 88 New Avenues for Youth, "The Economic Benefits of Helping Homeless Youth" (2006), available at http:// www.newavenues.org/docs/Cost\_Benefit-final\_PDF.
- 89 A bill to reauthorize the Runaway and Homeless Youth Act, and for other purposes, forthcoming, 114 Cong. 1 sess., available at http://www.leahy.senate.gov/ download/kin15024.
- 90 U.S. Department of Education, "Education for Homeless Children and Youths Grants for State and Local Activities," available at http://www2.ed.gov/programs/ homeless/index.html (last accessed January 2015).
- 91 New York Department of Labor, "State Labor Department Announces At-Risk LGBTO Youth Employment Initiative," Press release, June 4, 2013, available at http://labor.ny.gov/pressreleases/2013/ june-4-2013.shtm.
- 92 Melanie Barker, "Chicago Gets to Work for LGBTQ Youth," Curve Magazine, September 10, 2014, available at http://www.curvemag.com/Events/Work-Chicago-LGBTO-Youth-Job-Fair-128/.
- 93 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Condom Distribution as a Structural Level Intervention," available at http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/prevention/programs/ condoms/index.html (last accessed December 2014).
- 94 AIDS Watch, "Syringe Exchange Programs: Critical to Public Health and Public Safety" (2014), available at https://www.aidsunited.org/data/files/ Site\_18/2014AidsUnited-FactSheet-SyringeExchange. pdf.
- 95 Family Acceptance Project, available at http:// familyproject.sfsu.edu/ (last accessed January 2015).
- 96 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, "HUD Issues Guidance on LGBT Housing Discrimination Complaints," Press release, July 1, 2010, available at http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/press/ press\_releases\_media\_advisories/2010/HUDNo.10-139.
- 97 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, "Equal Access to HUD Programs Regardless of Sexual Orientation or Gender Identity."
- 98 Lisa Mottet and John M. Ohle, "Transitioning Our Shelters: A Guide to Making Homeless Shelters Safe for Transgender People" (Washington: National Gay and Lesbian Task Force and National Coalition for the Homeless, 2003), available at http://srlp.org/resources/ transitioning-our-shelters-a-guide-to-making-homeless-shelters-safe-for-transgender-people/; Massachusetts Transgender Political Coalition Policy Committee, "Shelter for All Genders: Best Practices for Homeless Shelters, Services, and Programs in Massachusetts in Serving Transgender Adults and Gender Non-Conforming Guests" (2013), available at http://www.masstpc.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/Shelter-for-all-Genders.pdf; Kristin M.

- Ferguson-Colvin and Elaine M. Maccio, "Toolkit for Practitioners/Researchers Working with Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Queer/Questioning (LGBTQ) Runaway and Homeless Youth (RHY)" (New York: National Resource Center for Permanency and Family Connections, 2012), available at http://www.hunter. cuny.edu/socwork/nrcfcpp/info\_services/download/ LGBTQ%20HRY%20Toolkit%20September%202012.pdf.
- 99 Andrew Cray and Kellan Baker, "The Affordable Care Act: Progress Toward Eliminating Insurance Discrimination Against Transgender People' (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2013), available at http://cdn.americanprogress.org/ wp-content/uploads/2013/05/CrayNonDiscrimInsfacts.pdf.
- 100 National Center for Transgender Equality, "Empire State Becomes Ninth to Ban Transgender Health Exclusions," December 11, 2014, available at https://transgendereguality.wordpress.com/2014/12/11/empire-statebecomes-ninth-to-ban-transgender-health-exclusions/.
- 101 Associated Press, "Municipal IDs Offering Immigrants, Homeless Chance at Services Set to Pass City Council," SILive.com, June 23, 2014, available at http://www. silive.com/news/index.ssf/2014/06/municipal\_ids\_offering undocum.html.
- 102 Streetwise and Safe, "Recommendations to Incoming New York City Mayor Bill DeBlasio" (2013), available at http://www.streetwiseandsafe.org/wp-content/ uploads/2013/12/SAS-recs-to-Mayor-DeBlasio.pdf.
- 103 INCITE! Blog, "No Simple Solutions."
- 104 Sarah McBride and others, "We the People: Why Congress and U.S. States Must Pass Comprehensive LGBT Nondiscrimination Protections" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014), available at https://cdn.americanprogress.org/wp-content/ uploads/2014/12/LGBT-WeThePeople-report-12.10.14.
- 105 Russell B. Toomey and others, "High School Gay-Straight Alliances (GSAs) and Young Adult Well-Being: An Examination of GSA Presence, Participation, and Perceived Effectiveness," Applied Developmental Science 15 (4) (2011): 175-185, available at http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/10888 691.2011.607378.
- 106 Gay, Lesbian & Straight Education Network, "Safe Schools Improvement Act," available at http://glsen. org/ssia (last accessed January 2015).
- 107 Catherine Hanssens and others, "A Roadmap for Change: Federal Policy Recommendations for Addressing the Criminalization of LGBT People and People Living with HIV" (New York: Center for Gender & Sexuality Law at Columbia Law School, 2014), available at http://web.law.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/ microsites/gender-sexuality/files/roadmap\_for\_ change\_full\_report.pdf.
- 108 Equity Project, "Resources," available at http://www. equityproject.org/resources.html (last accessed December 2014); Marksamer, Spade, and Arkles, "A Place of Respect"; Shannon Wilber, Caitlin Ryan, and Jody Marksamer, "Serving LGBT Youth in Out-of-Home Care: CWLA Best Practice Guidelines" (Washington: Child Welfare League of America, 2006), available at http://www.equityproject.org/pdfs/CWLA%20-%20 bestpracticeslgbtyouth.pdf; Child Welfare League of America and Lambda Legal, "Getting Down to Basics."

- 109 Massachusetts Department of Youth Services, "Prohibition of Harassment and Discrimination Against Youth" (2014), available at http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/ docs/dys/policies/030409-prohibition-youth-harassment.doc; New York State Office of Children and Family Services, "Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Questioning Youth" (2008), available at https://www. nycourts.gov/ip/judicialinstitute/transgender/220U. pdf; The City of New York Administration for Children's Services, "Promoting a Safe and Respectful Environment for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Questioning (LGBTQ) Youth and their Families Involved in the Child Welfare, Detention, and Juvenile Justice System" (2012), available at http://www.nyc.gov/html/acs/downloads/pdf/lgbtq/LGBTQ\_Policy.pdf.
- 110 Tracey Ross, "No Place Like Home: Addressing Poverty and Homelessness in the United States" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2013), available at http:// cdn.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/Homelessness.pdf.
- 111 Michael Pergamit and others, "Youth Count! Process Study" (Washington: Urban Institute, 2013), available at http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/412872-youthcount-process-study.pdf.

The Center for American Progress is a nonpartisan research and educational institute dedicated to promoting a strong, just, and free America that ensures opportunity for all. We believe that Americans are bound together by a common commitment to these values and we aspire to ensure that our national policies reflect these values. We work to find progressive and pragmatic solutions to significant domestic and international problems and develop policy proposals that foster a government that is "of the people, by the people, and for the people."

Center for American Progress